

**TITLE 317. OKLAHOMA HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY
CHAPTER 30. MEDICAL PROVIDERS-FEE FOR SERVICE
SUBCHAPTER 5. INDIVIDUAL PROVIDERS AND SPECIALTIES
PART 21. OUTPATIENT BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES**

317:30-5-241. Coverage for adults and children

(a) **Service descriptions and conditions.** Outpatient behavioral health services are covered for adults and children as set forth in this Section, unless specified otherwise, and when provided in accordance with a documented individualized service plan, developed to treat the identified mental health and/or substance abuse disorder(s). All services are to be for the goal of improvement of functioning, independence, or well being of the member. The services and treatment plans are to be recovery focused, trauma and co-occurring specific. The member must be able to actively participate in the treatment. Active participation means that the member must have sufficient cognitive abilities, communication skills, and short-term memory to derive a reasonable benefit from the treatment. The assessment must include a DSM multi axial diagnosis completed for all five axes from the most recent DSM version. All services will be subject to medical necessity criteria and will require prior authorization. For all outpatient behavioral health facilities, the OHCA, or its designated agent, will comply with established medical necessity criteria. Non prior authorized services will not be SoonerCare compensable with the exception of Mental Health Assessment by a Non-Physician, Alcohol and Drug Assessment, Mental Health Service Plan Development (moderate complexity), Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services Treatment Plan Development (moderate complexity), Crisis Intervention, and Adult Facility Based Crisis Stabilization. ~~Services (by a LBHP and Facility based for adults), and Program of Assertive Community Treatment Services (PACT).~~ Payment is not made for Outpatient Behavioral Health Services for children who are receiving Residential Behavioral Management Services in a Group Home or Therapeutic Foster Care unless authorized by the OHCA or its designated agent as medically necessary. Adults and children in Facility Based Crisis Intervention Services cannot receive additional Outpatient Behavioral Health Services outside of the admission and discharge dates. Residents of nursing facilities are not eligible for Outpatient Behavioral Health services.

(1) **Mental Health Assessment by a Non-Physician.** All agencies ~~must~~ will assess the medical necessity of each individual to determine the appropriate level of care. The assessment ~~must~~ will contain but is not limited to the following:

(A) Date, to include month, day and year of the assessment sessions(s), more than one session can be billed in multiple units;

- (B) Source of information;
- (C) Member=s first name, middle initial and last name;
- (D) Gender;
- (E) Birth date;
- (F) Home address;
- (G) Telephone number;
- (H) Referral source;
- (I) Reason for referral;
- (J) Person to be notified in case of emergency;
- (K) Presenting reason for seeking services;
- (L) Psychiatric social information, which ~~must~~ will include: personal history, including; family B social; educational; cultural and religious orientation; occupational B military; sexual; marital; domestic violence or sexual assault (including child abuse/neglect and child welfare involvement); recreation and leisure; financial; clinical treatment history including past and current medical and psychiatric diagnoses, symptoms, and treatment recommendations; legal or criminal record, including the identification of key contacts, i.e. attorneys, probation officers, etc. when appropriate; substance abuse and dependence, both current and historical; gambling abuse and dependence, both current and historical; and present life situation.
- (M) Mental status information, including questions regarding:
 - (i) physical presentation, such as general appearance, motor activity, attention and alertness, etc.;
 - (ii) affective process, such as mood, affect, manner and attitude, etc., and
 - (iii) cognitive process, such as intellectual ability, social-adaptive behavior, thought processes, thought content, and memory, etc; and
 - (iv) Full Five Axes DSM diagnosis.
- (N) A section on health history and pharmaceutical information, with pharmaceutical information to include the following for both current and past medications:
 - (i) name of medication;
 - (ii) strength and dosage of medication;
 - (iii) length of time on the medication;
 - (iv) benefit(s) and side effects of medication; and
 - (v) level of functionality.
- (O) Identification of the member's strengths, needs, abilities, and preferences:
 - (i) LBHP's interpretation of findings;
 - (ii) signature and credentials of LBHP.
- (P) The assessment ~~must~~ will include all elements and tools required by the OHCA. For adults, it may include interviews or communications with family, caretakers, or other support

persons as permitted by the member. For children under the age of ~~18~~ 16, it ~~must~~ will include an interview with a parent, or other adult caretaker. For children, the assessment must also include information on school performance and school based services. This service is performed by an LBHP. The minimum face-to-face time spent in assessment session(s) with the member and others as identified previously in this paragraph for a low complexity Mental Health Assessment by a Non-Physician is one and one half hours. For a moderate complexity, it is two hours or more. ~~This service can be billed in partial units to allow for shorter assessment sessions as needed by the member.~~ This service is compensable on behalf of a member who is seeking services for the first time from the contracted agency. This service is not compensable if the member has previously received or is currently receiving services from the agency, unless there has been a gap in services of more than six months and it has been more than one year since the previous assessment.

(2) **Alcohol and Drug Assessment.** All providers ~~must~~ will assess the medical necessity of each individual to determine the appropriate level of care. The assessment will contain but is not limited to the following:

- (A) Date, to include month, day and year of the assessment sessions(s), more than one session can be billed in multiple units;
- (B) Source of information;
- (C) Member's first name, middle initial and last name;
- (D) Gender;
- (E) Birth date;
- (F) Home address;
- (G) Telephone number;
- (H) Referral source;
- (I) Reason for referral;
- (J) Person to be notified in case of emergency;
- (K) Presenting reason for seeking services; and
- (L) Psychiatric social information, which ~~must~~ will include:
 - (i) personal history, including: family B social; educational; cultural and religious orientation; occupational B military; sexual; marital; domestic violence or sexual assault (including child abuse/neglect and child welfare involvement); recreation and leisure; and financial;
 - (ii) clinical treatment history including past and current medical and psychiatric diagnoses, symptoms, and treatment recommendations;
 - (iii) legal or criminal record, including the identification of key contacts, i.e. attorneys, probation

- officers, etc. when appropriate;
- (iv) substance abuse and dependence, both current and historical;
- (v) gambling abuse and dependence, both current and historical;
- (M) Present life situation;
- (N) Mental status information, including questions regarding:
 - (i) physical presentation, such as general appearance, motor activity, attention and alertness, etc.;
 - (ii) affective process, such as mood, affect, manner and attitude, etc.; and
 - (iii) cognitive process, such as intellectual ability, social-adaptive behavior, thought processes, thought content, and memory, etc.;
- (O) Full Five Axes DSM diagnosis;
- (P) A section on health history and pharmaceutical information, with pharmaceutical information to include the following for both current and past medications:
 - (i) name of medication;
 - (ii) strength and dosage of medication;
 - (iii) length of time on the medication;
 - (iv) benefit(s) and side effects of medication; and
 - (v) level of functionality;
- (Q) Identification of the member's strengths, needs, abilities, and preferences:
 - (i) AODTP OR ~~BHP's~~ LBHP's interpretation of findings; and
 - (ii) signature and credentials of AODTP OR LBHP;
- (R) The assessment ~~must~~ will include all elements and tools required by the OHCA; and
- (S) For adults, it may include interviews and/or communication with family, caretakers or other support persons as permitted by the member. For children under the age of ~~18~~ 16, it ~~must~~ will include an interview with a parent or other adult caretaker. For children, the assessment ~~must~~ will also include information on school performance and school based services. This service is performed by an AODTP or LBHP. The minimum face to face time spent in assessment with the member (and other family or caretakers as previously described in this paragraph) for a low complexity is one and one-half hours. For a moderate complexity it is two hours or more. ~~This service can be billed in partial units to allow for shorter assessment sessions as needed by the member.~~ This service is compensable on behalf of a member who is seeking services for the first time from the contracted agency. The service is not compensable if the member has previously received or is currently receiving services from the agency, unless there has been a gap in services of more than six months and it has been more than one year since the previous

assessment.

(3) Mental Health Services Plan Development by a Non-Physician (moderate complexity).

(A) Mental Health Services Plan Development by a Non-Physician (moderate complexity) is to be performed by the practitioners and others who will comprise the treatment team. It is performed with the direct active participation of the member and a member support person or advocate if requested by the member. In the case of children under the age of ~~18~~ 16, it is performed with the participation of the parent or guardian and the child as age and developmentally appropriate.

(B) The Mental Health Services Plan is developed based on information obtained in the mental health assessment and includes the evaluation of assessment and determined diagnosis by the practitioners and the member of all pertinent information. It includes a discharge plan. It is a process whereby an individualized rehabilitation plan is developed that addresses the member's strengths, functional assets, weaknesses or liabilities, treatment goals, objectives and methodologies that are specific and time limited.

(C) For adults, it ~~must~~ will be focused on recovery and achieving maximum community interaction and involvement including goals for employment, independent living, volunteer work, or training. For children, the service plan ~~must~~ will address school and educational concerns and assisting the family in caring for the child in the least restrictive level of care.

(D) Comprehensive and ~~ingrafted~~ integrated service plan content shall address the following:

- (i) member strengths, needs, abilities, and preferences;
- (ii) identified presenting challenges, problems, needs, and diagnosis;
- (iii) specific goals for the member;
- (iv) objectives that are specific, measurable, attainable, realistic, and time-limited (unless the individual is on a recovery maintenance/relapse prevention services plan, then objectives may be broad while the progress notes are detailed;
- (v) each type of service and estimated frequency to be received;
- (vi) each treatment methodology for individual, interactive, group and family psychotherapies the provider will utilize;
- (vii) the ~~practitioner(s)~~ practitioner(s) name and credentials that will be providing and responsible for each service;

- (viii) any needed referrals for services;
- (ix) specific discharge criteria;
- (x) description of the member's involvement in, and responses to, the treatment plan, and his/her signature and date;
- (xi) service plans are not valid until all signatures are present (signatures are required from the member, the parent/guardian when applicable, and the primary LBHP); and
- (xii) changes in service plans can be documented in a service plan update (low complexity) or in the progress notes until time for the update (low complexity).

(E) One unit per SoonerCare member per provider is allowed without prior authorization. If determined by the OHCA or its designated agent, one additional unit per year may be authorized.

(4) Mental Health Services Plan Development by a Non-Physician (low complexity).

(A) Mental Health Services Plan Development by a Non-Physician (low complexity) is for the purpose of reviewing, revising and updating an established Mental Health Services Plan. All elements of the plan ~~must~~ will be reviewed with the member and treatment progress assessed.

(B) Updates to goals, objectives, service provider, services, and service frequency, can be documented in a progress note until the six month review/update is due.

(C) Service plan updates shall address the following:

- (i) progress, or lack of, on previous service plan goals and/or objectives;
- (ii) a statement documenting a review of the current service plan and an explanation if no changes are to be made to the service plan;
- (iii) change in goals and/or objectives (including target dates) based upon member's progress or identification of new need, challenges and problems;
- (iv) change in frequency and/or type of services provided;
- (v) change in treatment methodology(ies) for individual, interactive, group and family psychotherapies the provider will utilize;
- (vi) change in practitioner(s) who will be responsible for providing services on the plan;
- (vii) additional referrals for needed services;
- (viii) change in discharge criteria;
- (ix) description of the member's involvement in, and responses to, the treatment plan, and his/her signature and date; and
- (x) service plans are not valid until all signatures are present. The required signatures are: the member (if

over age 14), the parent/guardian (if under age ~~18~~ 16 or otherwise applicable), and the primary LBHP.

(D) Service Plan updates are required every six months during active treatment. Updates can be conducted whenever needed as determined by the provider and member.

(5) Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services, Treatment Plan Development (moderate complexity).

(A) Alcohol and Substance Abuse Treatment Plan Development (moderate complexity) is to be performed by the AODTP practitioners and others who will comprise the treatment team. The current edition of the ASAM criteria or other required tool is to be utilized and followed.

(B) The service is performed with the direct active participation of the member and a member support person or advocate if requested by the member. In the case of children under the age of ~~18~~ 16, it is performed with the participation of the parent or guardian and the child as age and developmentally appropriate. The Plan is developed based on information obtained in the assessment and includes the evaluation of all pertinent information by the practitioners and the member. The service includes a discharge plan. The service is a process whereby an individualized rehabilitation plan is developed that addresses the member's strengths, functional assets, weaknesses or liabilities, treatment goals, objectives and methodologies that are specific and time limited.

(C) For adults, it ~~must~~ will be focused on recovery and achieving maximum community interaction and involvement including goals for employment, independent living, volunteer work, or training. For children, the service plan ~~must~~ will address school and educational concerns and ~~assisting~~ assist the family in caring for the child in the least restrictive level of care.

(D) Comprehensive and integrated service plan contents ~~must~~ will address the following:

- (i) member strengths, needs, abilities, and preferences;
- (ii) identified presenting challenges and problems, needs, and diagnosis;
- (iii) specific goals for the member;
- (iv) objectives that are specific, measurable, attainable, realistic and time-limited (unless the individual is on a recovery maintenance/relapse prevention services plan, then objectives may be broad while the progress notes are detailed);
- (v) each type of service and estimated frequency to be received;
- (vi) each treatment methodology for individual, interactive, group and family psychotherapies the provider

will utilize;

(vii) the practitioner(s) name and credentials who will be providing and responsible for each service;

(viii) any needed referrals for services;

(ix) specific discharge criteria;

(x) description of the member's involvement in, and responses to, the treatment plan, and his/her signature and date;

(xi) service plans are not valid until all signatures are present. The required signatures are: the member (if over age 14), the parent/guardian (if under age ~~18~~ 16 or otherwise applicable), and the primary LBHP; and

(xii) changes in service plans can be documented in a Service Plan Update (low complexity) or in the progress notes until time for the Update (low complexity).

(6) Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Plan Development (low complexity).

(A) Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Plan Development (low complexity) is for the purpose of reviewing, revising and updating an established Mental Health Services Plan. The ASAM criteria or other required tool will be utilized in the development of the Plan. All elements of the plan ~~must~~ will be reviewed with the member and treatment progress assessed.

(B) Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Treatment Plan Development (low complexity) will be provided by the treatment team members.

(C) Service plan updates shall address the following:

(i) progress, or lack of, on previous service plan goals and/or objectives;

(ii) a statement documenting a review of the current service plan and an explanation if no changes are to be made to the service plan;

(iii) change in goals and/or objectives (including target dates) based upon member=s progress or identification of new need, challenges and problems;

(iv) change in frequency and/or type of services provided;

(v) change in treatment methodology(ies) for individual, interactive, group and family psychotherapies the provider will utilize;

(vi) change in practitioner(s) who will be responsible for providing services on the plan;

(vii) additional referrals for needed services;

(viii) change in discharge criteria;

(ix) description of the member's involvement in, and responses to, the treatment plan, and his/her signature and date;

(x) service plans are not valid until all signatures are present. The required signatures are the:

- (I) member (if over age 14),
- (II) parent/guardian (if under age ~~18~~ 16 or otherwise applicable), and
- (III) primary LBHP.

(D) Updates to goals, objectives, service provider, services, and service frequency, can be documented in a progress note until the 6 month review/update is due.

(E) Service Plan updates are required every six months during which services are provided. Updates can be conducted whenever needed as determined by the provider and member.

(7) Individual/Interactive Psychotherapy.

(A) Individual Psychotherapy is a face-to-face treatment for mental illnesses and behavioral disturbances, in which the clinician, through definitive therapeutic communication, attempts to alleviate the emotional disturbances, reverse or change maladaptive patterns of behavior and encourage growth and development. Insight oriented, behavior modifying and/or supportive psychotherapy refers to the development of insight of affective understanding, the use of behavior modification techniques, the use of supportive interactions, the use of cognitive discussion of reality, or any combination of these items to provide therapeutic change.

(B) Interactive Psychotherapy is individual psychotherapy that involves the use of play therapy equipment, physical aids/devices, language interpreter, or other mechanisms of nonverbal communication to overcome barriers to the therapeutic interaction between the clinician and the member who has not yet developed or who has lost the expressive language communication skills to explain his/her symptoms and response to treatment, requires the use of a mechanical devices in order to progress in treatment, or the receptive communication skills to understand the clinician. The service may be used for adults who are hearing impaired and require the use of language interpreter.

(C) There are a total of six different compensable units of individual/interactive psychotherapy, three each for interactive and individual psychotherapy. They are Individual Insight Oriented, Behavior Modifying and/or Supportive Psychotherapy in an Outpatient Setting (20 - 30 minutes, 45 - 50 minutes, and 75 - 80 minutes), and Interactive Psychotherapy in an office or Outpatient Setting (20 - 30 minutes, 45 - 50 minutes, and 75 - 80 minutes). There is a maximum of one unit of either Individual or Interactive Psychotherapy per day. With the exception of a qualified interpreter if needed, only the member and the LBPH or AODTP should be present and the setting must protect and assure confidentiality. Ongoing assessment of the member's status and response to treatment as well as psycho-

educational intervention are appropriate components of individual counseling. The counseling must be goal directed, utilizing techniques appropriate to the service plan and the member's developmental and cognitive abilities.

(D) Individual/Interactive counseling will be provided by a MHP LBHP when treatment is for a mental illness and by an AODTP when treatment is for an alcohol or other drug disorder.

(8) Group Psychotherapy.

(A) Group psychotherapy is a method of treating behavioral disorders using the interaction between the MHP LBHP when treating mental illness or the AODTP when treating alcohol and other drug disorders, and two or more individuals to promote positive emotional or behavioral change. The focus of the group ~~must~~ will be directly related to the goals and objectives in the individual member's current service plan. This service does not include social or daily living skills development as described under Individual and Group Psychosocial Rehabilitation Services, or Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services Skills Development.

(B) Group Psychotherapy must take place in a confidential setting limited to the LBHP or the AODTP conducting the service, an assistant or co-therapist, if desired, and the group psychotherapy participants. Group Psychotherapy is limited to a total of eight adult individuals except when the individuals are residents of an ICF/MR where the maximum group size is six. For all children under the age of 18, the total group size is limited to six. ~~The typical length of time for a group psychotherapy session is one hour to one and one-half hours. A maximum of two Group Psychotherapy sessions per day are allowed. A maximum of three units per day per member are allowed.~~ Partial units are acceptable when the whole unit of time/service is not utilized. Individual or group breaks will be discounted from the overall time and are not required to be noted separately. The individual member's behavior, the size of the group, and the focus of the group ~~must~~ will be included in each member's medical record. As other members' personal health information cannot be included, the agency may keep a separate group log which contains detailed data on the group's attendees. A group may not consist solely of related individuals.

(C) Group psychotherapy will be provided by a LBHP when treatment is for a mental illness and by an AODTP when treatment is for an alcohol or other drug disorder.

(9) Family Psychotherapy.

(A) Family Psychotherapy is a face-to-face psychotherapeutic interaction between a LBHP or an AODTP and the member's

family, guardian, and/or support system. It is typically inclusive of the identified member, but may be performed if indicated without the member's presence. When the member is an adult, his/her permission must be obtained in writing. Family psychotherapy ~~must~~ will be provided for the direct benefit of the SoonerCare member to assist him/her in achieving his/her established treatment goals and objectives and it must take place in a confidential setting. This service may include the Evidence Based Practice titled Family Psychoeducation.

~~(B) The length of a Family Psychotherapy session is one hour to one and one-half hour. No more than two sessions~~ A maximum of three units of Family Psychotherapy are allowed per day per member/family. ~~This is also the maximum per family unit (unless prior authorization is given by OHCA or its designated agent).~~ Partial units are acceptable when the whole unit of time/service is not utilized. Family Psychotherapy ~~must~~ will be provided by a LBHP when treatment is for a mental illness and by an AODTP when treatment is for an alcohol or other drug disorder.

(10) Psychiatric Social Rehabilitation Services (group).

(A) Psychiatric Social Rehabilitation Services (PSR) are behavioral health remedial services which are necessary to improve the member's ability to function in the community. They are performed to improve the skills and abilities of members to live interdependently in the community, improve self-care and social skills, and promote lifestyle change and recovery practices. This service may include the Evidence Based Practice of Illness, Management, and Recovery. This service is generally performed with only the members, but may include a member and the member's family/support system group that focuses on the member's diagnosis, management, and recovery based curriculum. This service may take the form of a work units component in a General PSR program certified through the ODMHSAS. ~~Each day of PSR services will~~ must be reflected by documentation (daily or weekly summary notes) in the member's records, and ~~must~~ will include the following:

- (i) date;
- (ii) start and stop time(s) for each day of service;
- (iii) signature of the primary rehabilitation clinician;
- (iv) credentials of the primary rehabilitation clinician;
- (v) specific goal(s) and/or objectives addressed (these ~~must~~ will be identified on recovery service plan);
- (vi) type of skills training provided;
- (vii) progress made toward goals and objectives;
- (viii) member's report of satisfaction with staff intervention; and
- (ix) any new needed supports identified during service.

(B) Compensable Psychiatric Rehabilitation Services are provided to members who have the ability to benefit from the service. The services performed ~~must~~ will have a purpose that directly relates to the goals and objectives of the member's current service plan. A member who at the time of service is not able to cognitively benefit from the treatment due to active hallucinations, substance use, or other impairments is not suitable for this service.

(C) Travel time to and from PSR treatment is not compensable. Breaks, lunchtime and times when the member is unable or unwilling to participate are not compensable and must be deducted from the overall billed time. The minimum staffing ratio is fourteen members for each PSRS, AODTP, or LBHP for adults and eight to one for children under the age of eighteen. Countable professional staff ~~must~~ will be appropriately trained in a recognized behavioral/management intervention program such as MANDT or CAPE or trauma informed methodology. In order to develop and improve the member's community and interpersonal functioning and self care abilities, rehabilitation may take place in settings away from the Outpatient Behavioral Health agency site. When this occurs, the PSRS, AODTP, or LBHP must be present and interacting, teaching, or supporting the defined learning objectives of the member for the entire claimed time. The service is a fifteen minute time frame and may be billed up to a maximum of 24 units per day for adults and 16 units per day for children. The rate of compensation for this service includes the cost of providing transportation for members who receive this service, but do not have their own transportation or do not have other support persons able to provide or who are responsible for the transportation needs. Residents of ICF/MR facilities and children receiving RBMS in a group home or therapeutic Foster Home are not eligible for this service, unless prior approved by OHCA or its designated agent.

(D) A PSRS, AODTP, or LBHP may perform group psychiatric social rehabilitation services, using a treatment curriculum approved by a MHP LBHP.

(11) Psychiatric Social Rehabilitation Services (individual).

(A) Psychiatric Social Rehabilitation (PSR) Services (individual) is performed for the same purposes and under the same description and requirements as Psychosocial Rehabilitation Services (group) [Refer to paragraph (10) of this subsection]. The service is generally performed with only the member present, but may include the member's family or support system in order to educate them about the rehabilitative activities, interventions, goals and objectives. This service may include the Evidence Based

Practice of Illness, Management, and Recovery.

(B) A PSRS, AODTP, or LBHP ~~must~~ can provide this service. Residents of ICF/MR facilities and children receiving RBMS in a group home or therapeutic Foster Home are not eligible for this service, unless prior approved by OHCA or its designated agent. This billing unit is fifteen minutes and no more than six units per day are compensable. Children under an ODMHSAS Systems of Care program may be prior authorized additional units as part of an intensive transition period.

(12) Assessment/Evaluation testing.

(A) Assessment/Evaluation testing is provided by a clinician utilizing tests selected from currently accepted assessment test batteries. Test results ~~must~~ will be reflected in the Mental Health, Substance Abuse, or Integrated Services plan. The medical record ~~must~~ will clearly document the need for the testing and what the testing is expected to achieve.

(B) Assessment/Evaluation testing will be provided by a psychologist, certified psychometrist, psychological technician of a psychologist or a LBHP. For assessment conducted in a school setting, the Oklahoma State Department of Education requires that a licensed supervisor sign the assessment.

(13) Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services, Skills Development (group).

(A) Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services, Skills Development (group) consists of the therapeutic education of members regarding their AOD addiction or disorder. The service may also involve teaching skills to assist the individual in how to live independently in the community, improve self care and social skills and promote and support recovery. The services performed ~~must~~ will have a purpose that directly relates to the goals and objectives of the member's current service plan. A member who at the time of service is not able to cognitively benefit from the treatment due to active hallucinations, substance use, or other impairments is not suitable for this service. This service is generally performed with only the members, but may include a member and member family/support system group that focuses on the member's diagnosis, management, and recovery based curriculum.

(B) Travel time to and from Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services, Skills Development is not compensable. Breaks, lunchtime and times when the member is unable or unwilling to participate are not compensable and must be deducted from the overall billed time. The minimum staffing ratio is fourteen members for each PSRS, LBHP, or AODTP for adults and eight to one for children under the age of eighteen. This service may be performed by an AODTP, LBHP, or a PSRS. In order to

develop and improve the member's community and interpersonal functioning and self care abilities, services may take place in settings away from the agency site. When this occurs, the AODTP, LBHP, or PSRS ~~must~~ will be present and interacting, teaching, or supporting the defined learning objectives of the member for the entire claimed time. The service is a fifteen minute time frame and may be billed up to a maximum of 24 units per day for adults and 16 units per day for children. The rate of compensation for this service includes the cost of providing transportation for members who receive this service, but do not have their own transportation or do not have other support persons able to provide or who are responsible for the transportation needs. The OHCA transportation program will arrange for transportation for those who require specialized transportation equipment. Residents of ICF/MR facilities and children receiving RBMS in a group home or therapeutic Foster Home are not eligible for this service, unless prior approved by OHCA or its designated agent.

(C) Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services, Skills Development are provided utilizing a treatment curriculum approved by an AODTP or LBHP.

(14) Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services, Skills Development (individual).

(A) Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services, Skills Development (individual) is performed for the same purposes and under the same description and requirements as Alcohol and/or Substance Abuse Services, Skills Development (group) [Refer to paragraph (13) of this subsection]. It is generally performed with only the member present, but may include the member's family or support system in order to educate them about the rehabilitative activities, interventions, goals and objectives.

(B) An AODTP, LBHP, or PSRS ~~must~~ will provide this service. Residents of ICF/MR facilities and children receiving RBMS in a group home or therapeutic Foster Home are not eligible for this service, unless prior approved by OHCA or its designated agent. This billing unit is fifteen minutes and no more than six units per day are compensable.

(15) Medication Training and Support.

(A) Medication Training and Support is a documented review and educational session by a registered nurse, or physician assistant focusing on a member's response to medication and compliance with the medication regimen. The review ~~must~~ will include an assessment of medication compliance and medication side effects. Vital signs ~~must~~ will be taken including pulse, blood pressure and respiration and documented within the progress notes. A physician is not

required to be present, but must be available for consult. Medication Training and Support is designed to maintain the member on the appropriate level of the least intrusive medications, encourage normalization and prevent hospitalization. Medication Training and Support may not be billed for SoonerCare member who reside in ICF/MR facilities. One unit is allowed per month per patient without prior authorization.

(B) Medication Training and Support ~~must~~ will be provided by a licensed registered nurse, or a physician assistant as a direct service under the supervision of a physician.

(16) Crisis Intervention Services.

(A) Crisis Intervention Services are for the purpose of responding to acute behavioral or emotional dysfunction as evidenced by psychotic, suicidal, homicidal or severe psychiatric distress. The crisis situation including the symptoms exhibited and the resulting intervention or recommendations ~~must~~ will be clearly documented. Crisis Intervention Services are not compensable for SoonerCare members who reside in ICF/MR facilities, or who receive RBMS in a group home or Therapeutic Foster home, or members who, while in attendance for other behavioral health services, experience acute behavioral or emotional dysfunction. The unit is a fifteen minute unit with a maximum of eight units per month, established mobile crisis response teams can bill a maximum of sixteen units per month, and 40 units each 12 months per member.

(B) Crisis Intervention Services ~~must~~ will be provided by a LBHP.

(17) Crisis Intervention Services (facility based stabilization). Crisis Intervention Services (facility based stabilization) are emergency psychiatric and substance abuse services to resolve crisis situations. The services provided are emergency stabilization, which includes a protected environment, chemotherapy, detoxification, individual and group treatment, and medical assessment. Crisis Intervention Services (facility based stabilization) will be under the supervision of a physician aided by a licensed nurse, and will also include ~~MHPs~~ LBHPs for the provision of group and individual treatments. A physician must be available. This service is limited to providers who contract with or are operated by the ODMHSAS to provide this service within the overall behavioral health service delivery system. Crisis Intervention Services (facility based stabilization) are compensable for child and adult SoonerCare member. The unit of service is per hour. Providers of this service must meet the requirements delineated in the Oklahoma Administrative Code. Children's facility based stabilization (0-18 years of age) requires prior authorization.

(18) **Program of Assertive Community Treatment (PACT) Services.**

(A) The reimbursement methodology for PACT services will end effective June 30, 2008.

(B) Program of Assertive Community Treatment (PACT) Services are provided through the Oklahoma Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services and those delivered within an assertive community based approach to provide treatment, rehabilitation, and essential behavioral health supports on a continuous basis to individuals 18 years of age or older with serious mental illness with a self contained multi-disciplinary team. The team ~~must~~ will use an integrated service approach to merge essential clinical and rehabilitative functions and staff expertise. This level of service is to be provided only for persons most clearly in need of intensive ongoing services. Services must satisfy all statutory required program elements as articulated in the Oklahoma Administrative Code 450:55. At a minimum, the services ~~must~~ will include:

- (i) Assessment and evaluation;
- (ii) Treatment planning;
- (iii) Crisis intervention to cover psychiatric crisis and drug and alcohol crisis intervention;
- (iv) Symptom assessment, management, and individual supportive psychotherapy;
- (v) Medication evaluation and management, administration, monitoring and documentation;
- (vi) Rehabilitation services;
- (vii) Substance abuse treatment services;
- (viii) Activities of daily living training and supports;
- (ix) Social, interpersonal relationship, and related skills training; and,
- (x) Case management services.

(C) Providers of PACT services are specific teams within an established organization and must be operated by or contracted with and must be certified by the ODMHSAS in accordance with 43A O.S. 319 and Oklahoma Administrative Code 450:55. ~~The unit is a per diem inclusive of all services provided by the PACT team. No more than 12 days of service per month may be claimed.~~ SoonerCare members who are enrolled in this service may not receive other Outpatient Behavioral Health Services except for Crisis Intervention Services (facility based stabilization).

(19) **Behavioral Health Aide.** This service is limited to children with serious emotional disturbance who are in an ODMHSAS contracted systems of care community based treatment program, or are under OKDHS or OJA custody residing within a RBMS Level of care, who need intervention and support in their living environment to achieve or maintain stable successful

treatment outcomes. Behavioral Health Aides provide behavior management and redirection and behavioral and life skills remedial training. The behavioral aide also provides monitoring and observation of the child's emotional/behavioral status and responses, providing interventions, support and redirection when needed. Training is generally focused on behavioral, interpersonal, communication, self help, safety and daily living skills.

(A) Behavioral Health Aides must have completed 60 hours or equivalent of college credit or may substitute one year of relevant employment and/or responsibility in the care of children with complex emotional needs for up to two years of college experience, and:

(i) must have successfully completed the specialized training and education curriculum provided by the ODMHSAS; and

(ii) must be supervised by a bachelor's level individual with a minimum of two years case management experience. Treatment plans must be overseen and approved by a LBHP; and

(iii) function under the general direction of the established systems of care team and the current treatment plan.

(B) These services must be prior authorized by OHCA (or its designated agent). The Behavioral Health Aide cannot bill for more than one individual during the same time period.

(20) **Family Support and Training.** Family Support and Training is designed to benefit the SoonerCare eligible child experiencing a serious emotional disturbance ~~who~~ that is in an ODMHSAS contracted systems of care community based treatment program, are diagnosed with a pervasive developmental disorder, or are under OKDHS or OJA custody residing within a RBMS Level of care and who without these services would require psychiatric hospitalization. This service provides the training and support necessary to ensure engagement and active participation of the family in the treatment planning process and with the ongoing implementation and reinforcement of skills learned throughout the treatment process. Child Training is provided to family members to increase their ability to provide a safe and supportive environment in the home and community for the child.

This involves assisting the family in the acquisition of knowledge and skills necessary to understand and address the specific needs of the child in relation to their mental illness and treatment; development and enhancement of the families specific problem-solving skills, coping mechanisms, and strategies for the child's symptom/behavior management; assisting the family in understanding various requirements, such as the crisis plan and plan of care process; training on the

child's medications or diagnoses; interpreting choice offered by service providers; and assisting with understanding policies, procedures and regulations that impact the child with mental illness while living in the community. Parent Support ensures the engagement and active participation of the family in the treatment planning process and guides families toward taking a proactive role in their child's treatment. Parent Training is assisting the family with the acquisition of the skills and knowledge necessary to facilitate an awareness of their child's needs and the development and enhancement of the family's specific problem-solving skills, coping mechanisms, and strategies for the child's symptom/behavior management. Services are goal directed as identified in the child's individualized plan of care and provided under the direction of a child and family treatment team and are intended to support the family with maintaining the child in the home and community. For the purposes of this service, "family" is defined as the persons who live with or provide care to a person served and may include a parent, spouse, children, relatives, foster family, or in-laws. "Family" does not include individuals who are employed to care for the member.

(A) The family support and training worker must meet the following criteria:

- (i) have a high school diploma or equivalent;
- (ii) be 21 years of age and have successful experience as a family member of a child or youth with serious emotional disturbance, or a minimum of 2 years experience working with children with serious emotional disturbance or be equivalently qualified by education in the human services field or a combination of work experience and education with one year of education substituting for one year of experience (preference is given to parents or care givers of child with SED);
- (iii) successful completion of Family Support Training according to a curriculum approved by the ODMHSAS prior to providing the service;
- (iv) pass OSBI and OKDHS child abuse check as well as adult abuse registry and motor vehicle screens; and
- (v) receive ongoing and regular supervision by a person meeting the qualifications of a LBHP. A LBHP must be available at all times to provide back up, support, and/or consultation.

(B) These services may be retrospectively reviewed by OHCA or its designated agent.

(21) **Community Recovery Support.** Recovery Support is a service delivery role in the ODMHSAS public and contracted provider system throughout the mental health care system where the provider understands what creates recovery and how to support

environments conducive of recovery. The role is not interchangeable with traditional staff that usually work from the perspective of their training and/or their status as a licensed mental health provider; rather, this provider works from the perspective of their experiential expertise and specialized credential training. They lend unique insight into mental illness and what makes recovery possible because they are in recovery. Each provider must successfully complete over 40 hours of specialized training, demonstrate integration of newly acquired skills and pass a written exam in order to become credentialed. A code of ethics and continuing education opportunities are components which inform the continued professional development of this provider.

(A) The community/recovery support worker must meet the following criteria:

- (i) High School diploma or GED;
- (ii) minimum one year participation in local or national member advocacy or knowledge in the area of mental health recovery;
- (iii) current or former member of mental health services; and
- (iv) successful completion of the ODMHSAS Recovery Support Provider Training and Test to be credentialed.

(B) These services may be retrospectively reviewed by OHCA or its designated agent.

(C) Example of work performed:

- (i) Utilizing their knowledge, skills and abilities will:
 - (I) teach and mentor the value of every individual's recovery experience;
 - (II) model effective coping techniques and self-help strategies;
 - (III) assist members in articulating personal goals for recovery; and
 - (IV) assist members in determining the objectives needed to reach his/her recovery goals.
- (ii) Utilizing ongoing training may:
 - (I) proactively engage members and possess communication skills/ability to transfer new concepts, ideas, and insight to others;
 - (II) facilitate peer support groups;
 - (III) assist in setting up and sustaining self-help (mutual support) groups;
 - (IV) support members in using a Wellness Recovery Action Plan (WRAP);
 - (V) assist in creating a crisis plan/Psychiatric Advanced Directive;
 - (VI) utilize and teach problem solving techniques with members;

(VII) teach members how to identify and combat negative self-talk and fears;

(VIII) support the vocational choices of members and assist him/her in overcoming job-related anxiety;

(IX) assist in building social skills in the community that will enhance quality of life. Support the development of natural support systems;

(X) assist other staff in identifying program and service environments that are conducive to recovery; and

(XI) attend treatment team and program development meetings to ensure the presence of the member's voice and to promote the use of self-directed recovery tools.

(iii) Possess knowledge about various mental health settings and ancillary services (i.e., Social Security, housing services, and advocacy organizations).

(iv) Maintain a working knowledge of current trends and developments in the mental health field by reading books, journals and other relevant material.

(I) attend continuing education assemblies when offered by or approved by the ODMHSAS's Office of Consumer Affairs; and

(II) develop and share recovery oriented material at member specific continuing education trainings.

(v) Serve by:

(I) providing and advocating for effective recovery oriented services;

(II) assisting members in obtaining services that suit that individual's recovery needs;

(III) informing members about community and natural supports and how to utilize these in the recovery process; and

(IV) assisting members in developing empowerment skills through self-advocacy.

(vi) Develop specific competencies which will enhance their work skills and abilities. Identified tasks include, but are not limited to:

(I) becoming a trained facilitator of Double Trouble in Recovery (DTR);

(II) becoming a trained facilitator of Wellness Recovery Action Plan (WRAP);

(III) pursuing the USPRA credential of Certified Psychiatric Rehabilitation Practitioner (CPRP).

(b) Prior authorization and review of services requirements.

(1) **General requirement.** All SoonerCare providers who provide outpatient behavioral health services are required to have the services they provide ~~either~~ prior authorized by the OHCA or its designated agent. ~~Private behavioral health providers, public~~

~~and private community mental health centers, providers identified by the ODMHSAS as contracted providers, FQHCs, CHCs, RHCs, and I/T/U facilities are required to have all services prior authorized with the exception of. Services that do not require prior authorization are as follows:~~

- ~~(A) Mental Health Assessment by a Non-Physician;~~
- ~~(B) the initial four individual or family sessions before finalization of the Assessment service plan;~~
- ~~(C) Mental Health Service Plan Development by a Non-Physician (moderate complexity);~~
- ~~(D) ~~and~~ Crisis Intervention Services; and~~
- ~~(E) Adult Facility Based Crisis Intervention.~~

(2) **Prior authorization and review of services.** The OHCA or its designated agent who performs the services identified in paragraph (1) of this subsection uses its independent medical judgment to perform both the review of services and the prior authorization of services. OHCA does retain final administrative review over both prior authorization and review of services as required by 42 CFR 431.10.

(3) **Prior authorization process.**

(A) **Definitions.** The following definitions apply to the process of applying for an outpatient behavioral health prior authorization.

(i) **"Outpatient Request for Prior Authorization"** means the form used to request the OHCA or its designated agent to approve services.

(ii) **"Authorization Number"** means the number that is assigned per member and per provider that authorizes payment after services are rendered.

(iii) **"Initial Request for Treatment"** means a request to authorize treatment for a member that has not received outpatient treatment in the last six months.

(iv) **"Extension Request"** means a request to authorize treatment for a member who has received outpatient treatment in the last six months.

(v) **"Modification of Current Authorization Request"** means a request to modify the current array or amount of services a member is receiving.

(vi) **"Correction Request"** means a request to change a prior authorization error made by the OHCA or its designated agent.

(vii) **"Provider change in demographic information notification"** means a request to change a provider's name, address, phone, and/or fax numbers, or provider identification numbers. Change in demographics will require contractual changes with OHCA. Providers should contact OHCA's Contracts Services Division for more

information.

(viii) **"Status request"** means a request to ask the OHCA or its designated agent the status of a request.

(ix) **"Important notice"** means a notice that informs the provider that information is lacking regarding the approval of any prior authorization request.

(x) **"Letter of collaboration"** means an agreement between the member and two providers when a member chooses more than one provider during a course of treatment.

(B) **Process.** A provider ~~must~~ will submit an Initial Request for Treatment, an Extension Request, a Modification of Current Authorization Request, or a Correction Request on a form provided by the OHCA or its designated agent, prior to rendering the initial services or any additional array of services, with the exception of the first four sessions prior to completion of the Services Plan, Mental Health Assessment by a Non-Physician; Mental Health Service Plan Development by a Non-Physician (moderate complexity); and Crisis Intervention Services; and Adult Facility Based Crisis Intervention.

(i) These request forms must be fully completed including the following:

(I) pertinent demographic and identifying information;

(II) complete and current CAR or ASI unless another appropriate assessment tool is authorized by the OHCA or its designated agent;

(III) complete multi axial, DSM diagnosis using the most current edition;

(IV) psychiatric and treatment history;

(V) service plan with goals, objectives, treatment duration; and

(VI) services requested.

(ii) The OHCA or its designated agent may also require supporting documentation for any data submitted by the provider. The request may be denied if such information is not provided within ten calendar days of notification of the Important Notice.

(iii) Failure to provide a complete request form may result in a delay in the start date of the prior authorization.

(C) **Authorization for services.**

(i) Services are authorized by the OHCA or its designated agent using independent medical ~~judgement~~ judgment to perform the review of prior authorization requests to determine whether the request meets medical necessity criteria. If services are authorized, a treatment course of one to six months will be authorized. The

authorization of services is based upon ~~six~~ seven levels of care for children and ~~five~~ six levels of care for adults. The numerically based levels of care are designed to reflect the member's acuity as each level of care, in ascending order. Additional levels of care are known as Exceptional Case, 0-36 months, ICF/MR, Recovery Maintenance/Relapse Prevention, and RBMS.

(ii) If the provider requests services beyond the initial prior authorization period, additional documentation is required in the Extension Request.